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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  

Contracts         in the book of wisdom.”   

Spring 2020 - Final Examination   Thomas Jefferson 

 

STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 

 

Question 1 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

An art gallery owner prominently displayed a painting of a classic car by an 

artist who specializes in American pop culture. A collector, who used to own a 

similar car, visited the gallery on February 1, admired the painting, and told the 

gallery owner she would like to own it one day. 

On February 2, the gallery owner wrote to the collector, “I know you liked the 

painting you saw yesterday. I would be willing to let it go for $2,500.” The 

letter was mailed that day and received by the collector on February 4. 

On February 3, the collector wrote to the gallery owner, “I offer to buy the 

painting I saw in your gallery for $2,500.” The letter was mailed on February 3 

and received by the gallery owner on February 5. 

On February 6, a tourist visited the gallery and offered $3,000 for the painting. 

The gallery owner accepted. The collector visited the gallery on February 7 with 

$2,500, intending to pay for the painting. As soon as she greeted the gallery 

owner, the gallery owner informed her that he had already sold the painting. 

If the collector sues the gallery owner for breach of contract, will she prevail? 

A. Yes, because her letter accepted the gallery owner’s offer. 

 

B. Yes, because the gallery owner made a firm offer that could not be revoked 

before the collector’s February 7 visit to the gallery. 

 

C. No, because the gallery owner revoked his offer before the collector accepted 

it. 

 

D. No, because the gallery owner’s letter was too vague to be an offer. 
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Question 2 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A dog owner owned a dog of little monetary value. One day, the dog 

disappeared, and the owner placed the following advertisement in the 

newspaper: “I will pay $500 to anyone who finds and returns my dog.” A 

neighbor found the dog in his backyard late the next night. The man took the dog 

inside, intending to return it in the morning. Shortly before he returned the dog, 

the neighbor read the dog owner’s advertisement in the morning newspaper. 

If the dog owner’s advertisement was an offer, can the neighbor who found the 

dog recover $500 from the dog owner? 

A. Yes, because a contract was formed when he found the dog. 

 

B. Yes, because a contract was formed when he returned the dog to the dog 

owner. 

 

C. No, because he did not know of the offer when he found the dog. 

 

D. No, because of the Statute of Frauds. 

 

Question 3 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

An air conditioner distributor had three air conditioners that he wanted to sell 

to clear his storage facilities. On July 1, he sent a signed memo to a local 

businessman saying, “I have three air conditioners remaining. I will sell them to 

you for $1,000 each. I will hold this offer open until July 31.” 

On July 27, another regular customer of the distributor asked if he had any air 

conditioners remaining for sale. The regular customer offered to purchase two 

of the remaining three air conditioners, and the distributor sold them, leaving 

him with only one air conditioner. 

The distributor then informed the local businessman of the sale and asked if he 

wanted the last air conditioner. The local businessman immediately sent a 

telegram to the distributor demanding that all three air conditioners be sent. The 

distributor responded that he was unable to do this. The local businessman 

brought suit against the distributor for breach of contract. 

If the local businessman prevails, it will be because: 
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A. The local businessman supplied good consideration by thinking over the 

distributor’s offer. 

 

B. A contract was formed between the distributor and the local 

businessman, which was breached by the distributor’s sale of the air 

conditioners to his customer. 

 

C. An option contract was formed, which gave the local businessman the 

exclusive option of purchasing the air conditioners until July 31. 

 

D. The distributor’s memo constituted a firm offer, which was not revocable. 

 

Question 4 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A buyer mailed a signed order to a seller that read: “Please ship us 10,000 

widgets at your current price.” The seller received the order on January 7 and 

that same day mailed to the buyer a properly stamped, addressed, and signed 

letter, accepting the order at the seller’s current price of $10 per widget. On 

January 8, before receipt of the seller’s letter, the buyer telephoned the seller 

and said, “I hereby revoke my order.” The seller protested to no avail. The 

buyer received the seller’s letter on January 9. 

As of January 10, was there a contract between the buyer and the seller? 

A. No, because orders are offers that can be accepted only by shipping the 

goods, and the offer was revoked before shipment. 

 

B. No, because the buyer never agreed to the $10 price term. 

 

C. Yes, because the order was, for a reasonable time, an irrevocable offer. 

 

D. Yes, because the seller accepted the offer before the buyer attempted to revoke 

it. 

 

Question 5 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A landowner sent a signed letter to a potential buyer offering his property for 

$100,000. The buyer received the letter and sent a signed letter to the landowner 
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stating: “I accept your offer to sell me your property for $100,000.” The buyer, 

however, then sent another letter on the same day by overnight mail to the 

landowner, stating: “I will buy your property, but I can only pay $90,000.” The 

landowner received the second letter and then received the first letter. The next 

day, the buyer then sent a third letter, which stated: “I will pay the $100,000 that 

I originally offered for the property.” The landowner received this letter and 

wrote to the buyer that she would not sell the property to him. The buyer then 

tendered $100,000 but the landowner refused to tender a deed. 

If the buyer sues the landowner for specific performance, will he succeed? 

A.  Yes, because the buyer’s third letter resulted in an enforceable contract. 

B.  Yes, because a contract was formed at the moment the buyer sent the first 

letter. 

C.  No, because the second letter sent by the buyer was a rejection. 

D.  No, because the counteroffer reached the seller before the acceptance. 

 

Question 6 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

Two cousins had been raised in the same neighborhood. When the elder cousin 

married, she moved to another city, but the two cousins corresponded frequently 

over the years and occasionally visited each other. On March 1, the elder cousin 

wrote to her younger cousin that her last child had married and moved away. In 

the letter, she wrote, “I wonder if I should sell my house. It’s really too big for 

me. If I could get $85,000 for it, I’d sell it and move into an apartment.”  

On April 15, the younger cousin replied in a letter: “We just learned that we will 

be moving to your city. My husband and I both like your house and would be 

glad to pay you $95,000 for it. We could pay $10,000 in cash, but we would 

have to get a mortgage for the rest.”  

Upon receiving the letter on April 17, the elder cousin telephoned her younger 

cousin and said, “I accept your wonderful offer. I have a mortgage on the house 

for $85,000, so you can just pay me $10,000 and take over the payments.” The 

younger cousin responded: “That’s great. Let me talk to my husband about it 

again to make certain that we both agree. You’ll hear from me within 10 days.” 

On April 18, a local real estate developer offered the elder cousin $100,000 for 

her house, and she entered into a written purchase-and-sale agreement with him. 

An hour later, the younger cousin called and before her cousin could say 

anything she blurted out, “Great news! I talked with my husband, and we are 
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delighted to accept your offer.” 

Will the younger cousin prevail in a suit against the elder cousin for breach of 

contract? 

A. No, because the younger cousin said she had to talk to her husband to make 

certain they both agree. 

 

B. No, because of the Statute of Frauds. 

 

C. Yes, because the series of correspondence serves as sufficient written 

memoranda evidencing a contract. 

 

D. Yes, because the younger cousin was unaware of the sale to the real estate 

developer before calling the elder cousin. 

 

Question 7 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A young entrepreneur took out a loan for $10,000 from his mother to start a 

business selling hot sauce by mail order. He used the money to purchase start up 

supplies and to rent a small storage unit to hold his inventory. The entrepreneur 

also obtained an insurance policy insuring the storage unit and its contents 

against fire. The policy was made payable to the entrepreneur and his mother, as 

their interests in the business exist at the time of loss. The policy contained a 

provision that the insurance company would pay the amount of any loss suffered 

during the term of the policy, provided that notice of said loss is given to the 

insurance company within 30 days after the loss occurs. The entrepreneur lost 

interest in the business and made no loan payments to his mother. When a small 

fire in the storage unit ruined a portion of the entrepreneur’s inventory, he did 

not bother to report the loss to the insurance company for almost six months and 

thus was denied payment under the policy. 

What effect will the entrepreneur’s delay in reporting the loss to the insurance 

company have on his mother’s ability to recover under the insurance policy? 

A. It will have no effect on his mother’s rights under the policy. 

 

B. His mother will also be prevented from recovering under the policy. 

 

C. His mother can recover under the policy, but only under her rights of 

subrogation. 
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D. His mother can recover under the policy, but only to the extent that her 

interests were damaged by the fire. 

 

Question 8 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A successful stockbroker and his best friend, a land developer, were pleased that 

their only children were about to marry each other. The stockbroker and the 

developer wanted to get the marriage off to a good start. Thus, on July 1, the two 

agreed in writing that, on July 15, the stockbroker would deliver to the land 

developer a check for one-half of the market value of a two-bedroom 

condominium owned by the developer, and the developer would simultaneously 

deed the condominium to the bride and groom. 

On July 10, the newlyweds learned of the agreement, but neither one 

assented to it or changed position in reliance on it. On July 12, the 

stockbroker and the developer mutually agreed to cancel their agreement. 

If the newlyweds were to sue the developer and the stockbroker for breach of 

contract, who would prevail? 

A. The newlyweds would prevail, because their rights as intended beneficiaries 

vested when the contract was made on July 1, and a later revision was 

ineffective in affecting their rights. 

 

B. The newlyweds would prevail, because they received notice of the contract 

on July 10, making the rescission thereafter ineffective. 

 

C. The stockbroker and the developer would prevail, because they had the 

right to mutually rescind their agreement. 

 

D. The stockbroker and the developer would prevail, because the newlyweds 

were incidental beneficiaries and had no right to enforce the contract. 

 

Question 9 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

An artist, a baker, and a cook are identical 70-year-old triplets who have been 

very close during their lives. The artist and her husband are retired and living on 

a modest fixed income. The baker is a successful business executive. The cook 
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has suffered a slight stroke and is living in a nursing home in a city about 200 

miles from the artist’s home. 

One day, the artist’s husband telephoned the baker and told her that he had just 

ordered a $2,000 diamond ring as a Valentine’s Day present for his wife. When 

the baker heard about the husband’s proposed present, she told him, “It must be 

hard for you to pay for that ring on your retirement income. If you promise to 

bring my sister to visit our other sister in the nursing home on our birthday next 

October, I will pay the jeweler for the ring.” The husband said: “That will be 

wonderful. I’ll be delighted to take you up on your offer.” 

The husband picked up the ring, gave it to his wife, and told the jeweler to send 

the bill to the baker. The jeweler agreed and was satisfied with this arrangement. 

The baker then suffered a severe stroke, and the conservator appointed to handle 

her affairs refused to pay the bill sent by the jeweler. 

If the jeweler sues the baker’s conservator in May for $2,000, who will prevail? 

A. The conservator will prevail, because the husband has not performed the 

consideration required. 

 

B. The conservator will prevail, because of the Statute of Frauds. 

 

C. The jeweler will prevail, because the main purpose of the baker’s request was 

for her own benefit. 

 

D. The jeweler will prevail, because it was the intended beneficiary of the baker’s 

promise. 

 

Question 10 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A wealthy sportsman was determined to win the title to a national sailing 

competition. On July 1, the sportsman approached the leading builder of 12-

meter yachts with a hull design and the two discussed the sportsman’s ideas for a 

sail design. The discussion resulted in a valid written contract whereby the 

builder agreed to build and completely outfit with sails and all auxiliary 

equipment a 12-meter sailboat on or before April 1, the day when the crew had 

to begin training for the competition’s qualifying round. The agreed price was $2 

million, payable on May 1. 

The builder thereafter assigned his right to payment to an assignee. The boat was 
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not ready on April 1 or on May 1. The sportsman did not make the payment on 

May 1.  

As of May 1, whom can the assignee successfully sue? 

A. The builder only. 

B. The sportsman only. 

C.  Both the builder and the sportsman. 

D. Neither the builder nor the sportsman. 

 

Question 11 

(Worth 1 point) 

 

A 16-year-old driver tortiously injured an elderly driver in an automobile 

accident. The teenager’s liability insurer settled with the elderly driver for 

$5,000. The elderly driver gave the teenager’s insurer a signed release and 

received a signed memorandum, wherein the insurer promised to pay the elderly 

driver $5,000 by check within 30 days. The elderly driver then effectively 

assigned that settlement memorandum to his landlord as payment for back rent. 

The landlord immediately notified the insurer of this assignment, but the insurer 

made no payment based on the settlement. 

If the elderly driver starts an action against the insurer 40 days after the 

insurance settlement agreement, can he recover? 

A. Yes, because his attempted assignment of his claim was ineffective, 

inasmuch as the insurer’s promise to pay by check created a right in the 

elderly driver that was too personal to assign. 

 

B. No, because he no longer has possession of the insurer’s written memorandum. 

 

C. No, because the tortfeasor’s minority vitiated the settlement agreement 

between the elderly driver and the insurer. 

 

D. No, because the elderly driver has made an effective assignment of his 

claim against the insurer, who has notice thereof. 
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Question 12 and Question 13 are based on the following fact situation: 

 

Frieda Arvakian is an Oriental rug dealer.   She has acquired an antique rug called 

“orchid, blue, and gold,” measuring twenty feet by thirty feet.  The rug was once 

used by the Shah of Iran and was taken out of Iran by Arvakian’s sons just prior to 

the revolution.   

 

Grey is the developer of Be Bop, a computer software package, which is popular 

for all kinds of personal computers.  He is about to purchase a new home.  Grey is 

interested in the Grand Estate, which has a 25 by 40-foot living room, one of the 

few rooms that could properly accommodate a rug like “orchid, blue, and gold.” 

 

Grey inspected the Shah’s antique rug “orchid, blue, and gold,” in Arvakian’s 

showroom and orally agreed to purchase it for the asking price of $100,000, 

providing he was successful in purchasing the Grand Estate.  The agreement was 

later reduced to writing, but the provision concerning the purchase of the Grand 

Estate was not included in the written agreement. 

 

Question 12 

(worth 1 point) 

 

If Grey is unsuccessful in acquiring the Grand Estate because the owner decided 

not to sell and Arvakian sues Grey for the purchase price: 

 

A. Arvakian will prevail because the original oral agreement need not be in writing 

to be enforceable. 

  

B. Arvakian will prevail because of the parol evidence rule. 

 

C. Grey will prevail because he was unable to acquire the Grand Estate. 

 

D. Grey will prevail because Arvakian is not entitled to specific performance. 

 

Question 13 

(worth 1 point) 

 

Assume for purposes of this question that the written agreement conditioned 

performance on Grey’s purchase of the Grand Estate.  Grey bid $2,800,000 for the 

mansion, which was accepted by the owner. Thereafter, Grey changed his mind 

and prevailed upon the owner to rescind the purchase and sale agreement.   



 10 

 

If Arvakian sues Grey for damages after Grey refuses to perform the contract to 

purchase the rug: 

 

A. Grey will prevail because the condition precedent to the obligation has not 

occurred. 

 

B. Grey will prevail because Arvakian’s only remedy is for the price. 

 

C. Arvakian will prevail because Grey did not exercise good faith in attempting to 

acquire the house. 

 

D. Arvakian will prevail because the agreement was in writing. 

 

Question 14 

(worth 1 point) 

 

In April, when Korey was 17 years old, he purchased a Bose Stereo System.  

Korey agreed in writing to pay $700 for the system on his eighteenth birthday - - 

the applicable statutory age of majority.  On his eighteenth birthday, when the 

reasonable value of the stereo system was $550, Korey sent Bose a signed letter 

stating, “I will only pay you $600.  That is all the stereo is worth.” 

 

In an action against Korey for money damages one day after his eighteenth 

birthday, what is the maximum amount that Bose is entitled to recover? 

 

A. $700, the original price. 

 

B. $600, the amount Korey promised to pay in his letter on this 18th birthday. 

 

C. $550, the reasonable value of the stereo. 

 

D. Ø 

 

Question 15 

(worth 1 point) 

 

The Andover Glee Club (“AGC”) engaged Phil, an inexperienced singer, to do a 

song in a new musical for a period of six months at a salary of $2,000 per week.  

Phil turned down another job in order to accept this engagement.  On the third day 
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of the performance, Phil was hospitalized with influenza, and Tony was hired to do 

the part.  A week later, Phil recovered, but the AGC refused to accept his services 

for the remainder of the contract period.  Phil sued for breach of contract. 

Which of the following is Phil’s best legal theory? 

A. His performance became physically impossible. 

 

B. His singing contract was legally severable into weekly units. 

 

C. His reliance on the engagement by declining another job created estoppel 

against AGC. 

 

D. His failure to perform for one week was not a material failure so as to discharge 

AGC’s duty. 

 

Question 16 

(worth 1 point) 

 

Buyer orders 3,000 skeins of yarn via a purchase order.  Seller responds with a 

confirmation containing identical terms except additionally the confirmation 

provides all disputes will be settled by arbitration.  Buyer does not respond to the 

confirmation.  If neither party has performed: 

 

A. There is no contract under the knock-out rule. 

 

B. There is no contract because of mirror image rule. 

 

C. There would be no contract at common law, but there is a contract in this case. 

 

D. There is a contract provided both parties are merchants. 

 

Question 17 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A bottling company sent a purchase order to a wholesaler that stated, “Ship 

100,000 empty plastic bottles at the posted price.”  Two days after receipt of this 

purchase order, the wholesaler shipped the bottles and the bottling company 

accepted delivery of them.  A week after the bottles were delivered, the bottling 

company received the wholesaler’s acknowledgement form, which included a 

disclaimer of consequential damages.  After using the bottles for two months, the 

bottling company discovered a defect in the bottles that caused its product to leak 
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from them.  The bottling company recalled 10,000 of the bottles containing its 

product, incurring lost profits of $40,000.   

Will the bottling company be successful in recovering the $40,000? 

 

A. Yes, because the wholesaler’s acknowledgment did not alter the terms of an 

existing contract. 

 

B. Yes, because the disclaimer of consequential damages is unconscionable. 

 

C. No, because the bottling company’s acceptance of the goods constituted an 

acceptance of the terms in the wholesaler’s acknowledgment. 

 

D. No, because buyers are not entitled to recover consequential damages. 

 

Question 18 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A buyer sent a seller an offer to buy 50 tons of cotton of a specified quality.  The 

offer contained no terms except those specifying the amount and quality of the 

cotton.  The seller then sent an acknowledgment by fax.  The acknowledgment 

repeated the terms of the buyer’s offer and stated that shipment would occur within 

five days.  Among 12 printed terms of the acknowledgment was a statement that 

any dispute about the cotton’s quality would be submitted to arbitration.  Neither 

the buyer nor the seller said anything further about arbitration.  The seller shipped 

the cotton and the buyer accepted it.  A dispute arose between the buyer and the 

seller as to the quality of the cotton, and the seller asserted that the dispute had to 

be submitted to arbitration.  The buyer instead sued the seller in court.   

In that suit, which of the following arguments best supports the seller’s position 

that the buyer must submit to arbitration? 

 

A. Arbitration is a more efficient method of resolving disputes. 

 

B. The provision for arbitration did not contradict any terms in the buyer’s offer. 

 

C. The provision for arbitration did not materially alter the contact. 

 

D. The seller’s acknowledgment containing a provision for arbitration constituted a 

counteroffer that was accepted by the buyer when it accepted delivery of the 

cotton. 
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Question 19       

(worth 1 point) 

 

General Contractor was about to bid on a contract to construct a building, and 

asked Electrician to submit a bid for the electrical work in accordance with plans 

and specifications supplied by owner.  Electrician submitted an offer in writing to 

do the electrical work for $85,000.  General also obtained other bids for the 

electrical work, which were between $10,000, and $30,000 higher.  General was 

awarded the contract to construct the building on the basis of the bid submitted by 

Electrician. 

 

General then called Electrician and said, “I have received the contract to build the 

building and want you to do the electrical, but you will have to do it for $80,000 if 

you want the job and want to do any more work for me.”  Electrician said, “I’ve 

gone over my figures and I made a mistake.  The $85,000 bid was low.  I can’t do 

it for less than $100,000.”  General then said, “I accept your bid for $85,000.” 

 

Which of the following is the strongest argument for Electrician that a contract did 

not come into existence based on these facts? 

 

A. Electrician’s offer was terminated because it was not accepted within a 

reasonable time. 

 

B. No contract came into existence because General knew of Electrician’s 

unilateral mistake. 

 

C. General terminated Electrician’s offer by insisting that Electrician perform the 

work for $80,000. 

 

D. Electrician’s offer to General was revocable and was revoked when Electrician 

informed General that he could not perform for $85,000.  

 

Question 20        

(worth 1 point) 

 

During 2017, a series of burglaries, one of which occurred at Home Depot, hit the 

Town of Sterling.  In early 2018, Home Depot, by a written memorandum to Gus, 

a private detective, proposed to pay Gus $250 for each day’s work he actually 

performed in investigating the burglaries.  
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In September 2018, a Home Depot employee voluntarily confessed to Gus to 

having committed all of the 2017 burglaries.  Home Depot’s President thereupon 

paid Gus at the proposed daily rate for his investigation. In December 2018, as a 

result of Gus’s investigation, the Home Depot employee was convicted of 

burglarizing the store.  

Which of the following best characterizes the relationship between Home Depot 

and Gus? 

 

A. A series of daily unilateral contracts, Home Depot exchanging an express 

promise to pay the daily rate for Gus’s daily activity of investigating the store’s 

burglary. 

 

B. A series of daily bilateral contracts.  Home Depot exchanging an express 

promise to pay the daily rate for Gus’s implied promise to pursue his 

investigation with reasonable diligence. 

 

C. An employment for compensation subject to a condition precedent that Gus 

succeed in his investigation. 

 

D. A unilateral offer of employment by Home Depot, which became 

irrevocable for a reasonable number of days after Gus commenced his 

investigation of the store’s burglary. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  

Contracts         in the book of wisdom.”   

Spring 2020 - Final Examination   Thomas Jefferson 

 

STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 

 

 

Essay - Question #1 

(worth 30 points) 

 

Larry and Pam (“hereinafter debtors”) fell behind on their loan payments to Credit 

Association.  They restructured their debt in an agreement dated March 26, 2019, 

which confirmed outstanding loans with a total delinquency of $710,000.  In the 

new agreement, the Credit Association promised it would take no enforcement 

action until July 1, 2019, if the debtors made specified payments.  As additional 

collateral, the debtors pledged eight separate parcels of real property.  They 

initialed pages bearing the legal description of these parcels. 

 

The debtors did not make the required payments.  On March 21, 2020, the Credit 

Association recorded a notice of default.  Eventually, the debtors repaid the loan 

and the Association dismissed its foreclosure proceeding.  The debtors then filed 

an action, seeking damages for fraud and negligent misrepresentation and 

including causes of action for recession and reformation of the restructuring 

agreement.  They allege that the Association’s V.P., David Ylaregi met with them 

two weeks before the agreement was signed and told them the Association would 

extend the loan for two years in exchange for additional collateral consisting of 

two ranches.  The debtors further claimed that, when they signed the agreement 

Ylaregi assured them its term was two years and the ranches were the only 

additional security.  As noted, the contract actually contemplated only three 

months of forbearance and identified eight parcels as additional collateral.  The 

debtors did not read the agreement, but simply signed it at the locations tabbed for 

signature. 

 

A. What is the Credit Association’s argument when moving for summary 

judgment? 

 

B.  How will court likely rule? 
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Essay - Question #2 

(worth 20 points) 

 

Thelma is a small business owner, who owns a shop for repairing lawn mowers, 

snow blowers, and other small appliances.  Thelma ordered some parts from AC 

Supply Company for use in the business operations.  AC Supply Company 

responded with an acknowledgment that stated it will mail the parts within two 

weeks, included a warranty disclaimer, and stated acceptance is expressly 

conditional on assent to the additional or different terms contained in the 

acknowledgment. 

 

A. Discuss when and whether a contract exists. 

 

B. Assume AC Supply Company sends the parts and Thelma pays for and uses 

them.  Assume further that a problem occurs later with the parts. What is the 

probability that Thelma will be successful in suing for breach of warranty?  

Fully support your answer. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  

Contracts         in the book of wisdom.”   

Spring 2021 - Final Examination    Thomas Jefferson 

 

 

STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 

 

Question 1 

(worth 1 point) 

 

An auto manufacturer contracted with a supplier to provide speakers for 10,000 

vehicles at a total price of $600,000. Prior to the date fixed for delivery of the 

speakers, the supplier, without justification, informed the manufacturer that it could 

not supply the speakers. The manufacturer immediately sought quotes from other 

suppliers. The manufacturer received a quote from a second supplier, who had 

previously provided the manufacturer with speakers in a timely and satisfactory 

manner, to sell 10,000 speakers for $800,000. A short time later, the manufacturer 

received an offer from a third supplier, with whom the manufacturer had not 

previously worked: to supply the 10,000 speakers for $600,000. The manufacturer, 

reasonably concerned that the third supplier would be unable to provide the speakers 

in a timely and satisfactory manner, entered into a contract with the second supplier. 

Subsequently, the first supplier told the manufacturer that it would be able to supply 

the speakers by the original delivery date and, although not requested by the 

manufacturer, provided the manufacturer  with adequate evidence that the speakers 

would be timely delivered. The manufacturer told the first supplier not to deliver the 

goods and instead acquired them from the second supplier.  The auto manufacturer  

sued the first supplier for $200,000. 

 

Should the auto manufacturer prevail? 

 

A.    Yes, because the auto manufacturer is entitled to recover the cost of acquiring 

substitute speakers. 

 

B. Yes, because the first supplier had repudiated its contractual obligation. 

 

C.  No, because the auto manufacturer was required to mitigate its damages by 

accepting the third supplier's lower offer. 

 

D.  No, because the first supplier withdrew its repudiation prior to the time for 

performance. 
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Question 2 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A 16-year-old entered into a written agreement to buy a car from a dealership. He 

made a small down payment and took out a loan from the dealership for the remainder 

of the purchase price. The deal was fair in every respect, and the same as the car 

dealership would give any other customer. After the sale was finalized, the salesman's 

supervisor reviewed the contract, and upon researching the matter further, discovered 

that the boy was only 16. He told the salesperson to call the boy and cancel the 

contract, which he did. In a breach of contract action brought on behalf of the boy, the 

court held for the boy. 

 

What was the reason? 

 

A. The contract is one for necessities. 

 

B. The contract cannot be disaffirmed because of the boy's part performance. 

 

C. The contract is not voidable because the terms were fair. 

 

D. The dealer did not have the right to void the contract. 

 

Question 3 

(worth 1 point) 

 

On January 8, a liquor company sent a signed, written offer to a retailer containing the 

following:  "We will sell you our last 500 cases of our caffeine-infused vodka for $100 

per case." On that same day, but unknown to either party, the state enacted a law 

prohibiting the sale or distribution of the caffeine­ infused vodka due to a number of 

serious health risks connected to the product.  Upon receiving the liquor company's 

offer, the retailer decided to take a couple of days to contemplate the offer.  On January 

15, after not hearing from the retailer, the liquor company decided it was no longer 

willing to sell the vodka to the retailer, but it did not contact the retailer.  On January 

17, the retailer decided that it was not interested in the vodka and placed a letter 

rejecting the offer in the mail.  However, after hearing about the popularity of the 

vodka from a number of patrons that same day, the retailer immediately mailed a 

signed acceptance to the liquor company.  The liquor company received the retailer's 

acceptance on January 20. Due to an error at the post office, the retailer's initial 

rejection was not received until January 21. The retailer and the liquor company both 

learned of the state law on January 22. 
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Which of the following is an accurate statement regarding the relationship between the 

retailer and the liquor company as of January 23? 

 

A. No contract was formed because the liquor company's offer was revoked on 

January 15. 

 

B. No contract was formed because the retailer's rejection was effective on January 17. 

 

C.  An enforceable contract was formed on January 20. 

 

D. A contract was formed on January 20, but it is not enforceable due to illegality. 

 

Question 4 

(worth 1 point) 

 

Two roommates lived together in a modest apartment for many years, during which 

time the female roommate purchased many items of furniture for the apartment. These 

items were worth roughly $10,000. When the female roommate decided to relocate 

across the country for a large promotion, she told the male roommate he could have all 

of the furniture when she left at the end of the month, as he had a much lower income. 

He wrote a long thank-you note telling her he was grateful. The next day at work, 

before the female roommate read the note, she learned that her promotion fell through 

and she decided to stay in the apartment. 

 

At the end of the month, can the male roommate enforce the female's promise to give him 

the furniture? 

 

A. Yes, because he accepted the offer of the furniture through the thank-you note. 

 

B.  Yes, because he acquired full ownership of the property upon acceptance. 

 

C. No, because the male roommate did not bargain for a legal detriment in exchange 

for the promise. 

 

D. No, because the female roommate had not yet read the note regarding acceptance. 

 

Question 5 

(worth 1 point) 

 

In February, a vendor and a manufacturer entered a written contract under which the 

manufacturer would supply the vendor with a shipment of widgets each month for sale 

in the vendor's business. The contract provided that the manufacturer would "deliver 
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100 units of widgets on the last business day of each month until the end of the year." 

The manufacturer made satisfactory deliveries for seven months, and the vendor 

accepted each shipment.  However, the vendor rejected the shipment delivered at the 

end of September. The manufacturer has sued the vendor for breach of contract. The 

vendor seeks to admit evidence from the pre-contract  negotiations between the parties 

that the term "year" in the  contract was understood by both parties to mean the end of 

the vendor's "fiscal year" in August, and therefore the vendor was under no further 

obligation to accept shipments from the manufacturer. The court has found that the 

term "year" in the contract is ambiguous. 

 

If the court finds that the February written contract is completely integrated, is the 

vendor's proffered evidence admissible? 

 

A. No, because the "four-corners" rule requires that the objective definitions of 

ambiguous contract terms control the meaning of the contract. 

 

B. No, because the parol evidence rule makes this evidence inadmissible. 

 

C. Yes, because the court has found that the term "year" is ambiguous. 

 

D. Yes, because the UCC permits the admission of this evidence even if the term was 

unambiguous. 

 

Question 6 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A customer visited several area car dealerships, looking for a family car. One local car 

dealer named a price for the car that the customer wanted, which the customer asked 

be put in writing. The dealer wrote down the car's unique vehicle identification 

number, the price, the date, and the statement, "Firm offer for 30 days from today's 

date, provided car is in stock." The dealer signed the document. Twenty­ nine days 

later, the customer returned to the dealer. The dealer admitted that the car was still in 

stock, but told the customer that it would now cost $500 more. The customer replied 

that he was ready, willing and able to buy the car, but only at the lower price. 

 

Does the customer's statement constitute acceptance of the dealer's lower price for the 

car? 

 

A.  Yes, because the customer was not a merchant. 

 

B. Yes, because the dealer was a merchant. 
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C. No, because the offer was subject to a condition and was therefore not a firm offer. 

 

D. No, because the dealer withdrew the offer of a lower price before the customer 

accepted it. 

 

Question 7 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A college student wanted to purchase a car so he could visit friends at other nearby 

colleges. After looking at a few different used cars, the college student found one he 

liked and entered into negotiations with a salesman for the purchase of the car. The 

college student and the salesman negotiated the terms and financing for the sale of the 

car, including monthly payments, but the salesman informed the college student that 

he would not sell the car to the student unless the student had someone  who could 

guarantee the loan that would be provided to purchase the car. The college student 

contacted his uncle who agreed to guarantee the loan for the student. The uncle 

accompanied the college student to the car dealership and met with the salesman. The 

uncle stated, "I'll guarantee the loan so that my nephew can buy this car and enjoy it." 

The salesman and the uncle shook hands. The salesman provided the college student 

with the loan necessary to purchase the car and the student took possession of the car. 

The college student subsequently failed to make any payments on the loan and the 

entire amount has become due. 

 

Can the salesman recover the entire amount of the loan from the uncle? 

 

A. No, because the agreement to guarantee the loan was not in writing. 

 

B. No, because there was no consideration for the uncle's promise to pay the debt. 

 

C. Yes, because the uncle agreed to guarantee the loan. 

 

D. Yes, because the uncle is primarily liable on the loan. 

 

Question 8 

(worth 1 point) 

 

The owner of a custom jewelry supply shop placed an order with a manufacturer for 

500 pairs of sterling silver "posts" of the type that are used to make pierced 

earrings. However, when the manufacturer started to fill the order, it had only 450 

pairs of sterling silver posts available. 

 

The manufacturer shipped the 450 pairs of sterling silver posts to the shop owner, 
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plus 50 pairs of higher-priced 10-karat gold posts, without making any adjustment 

in price. The manufacturer enclosed a note with the order, explaining to the shop 

owner that it was sending the last of the sterling silver posts in stock, plus the 50 

10-karat gold posts to accommodate the buyer. 

 

Did the manufacturer's shipment constitute an acceptance of the shop owner's offer? 

 

A.  Yes, and the shop owner may not reject the substituted goods because they 

are of comparable or greater value. 

 

B. Yes, although it is also a breach of the contract under the perfect tender 

doctrine. 

 

C. No, because it is a counteroffer that the shop owner is free to accept or reject. 

 

D.  No, because it is a breach of the contract under the perfect tender doctrine. 

 

Question 9 

(worth 1 point) 

 

For a number of years, a leasing company has been in charge of leasing the luxury 

skyboxes at a local basketball stadium. During this time, it annually sent area 

businesses personalized "invitations" to lease skyboxes for the season. The 

invitations, which were always sent out several months before each season began, 

contained detailed price terms and language stating that the deadline for responding 

was 10 weeks before the start of the season and that all leases were subject to the 

approval of the management of the leasing company. A local advertising agency 

had always responded to their invitation immediately by registered mail because 

they found it very worthwhile to lease a skybox to entertain their clients. During the 

five years that they had responded affirmatively to the invitation, they never 

received any additional communications from the leasing company regarding 

approval, but the tickets and an invoice would arrive about a week before the season 

began. 

 

Several months before the current season, the advertising agency received and 

immediately responded to its invitation. Two weeks before the season began, a 

stunning trade brought the league's most popular star to the city's basketball team, 

prompting a dramatic increase in the demand for tickets. A few days later, the 

advertising agency, which had already scheduled in a number of clients to attend 

games in its skybox, received a notice from the leasing company stating that 

management had not approved the agency's lease of the skybox for this season. In a 

separate announcement to all area businesses, the leasing company announced that 

all available skyboxes would be leased for three- or five-year terms, and that an 
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auction of the leases would be conducted if the demand exceeded the supply.  The 

advertising agency decided that it was not financially feasible to commit itself to 

anything longer than a one-year lease. It sent a letter to the leasing company, stating that 

a contract was created between the parties and that the leasing company will be in 

breach if it does not perform. 

 

Is the advertising agency correct in its assertions? 

 

A.  Yes, because the leasing company's failure to reject the advertising agency's 

offer within a reasonable time constituted an acceptance under the 

circumstances. 

 

B. Yes, because the leasing company's "invitation" to the advertising agency was an 

offer, which the agency accepted. 

 

C. No, because the leasing company was entitled to reject the agency's offer 

when it did. 

 

D. No, but the advertising agency would be able to recover reliance damages 

from the leasing company under a quasi-contract theory. 

 

Question 10 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A woman had a developmentally disabled brother who lived in a group home. The 

woman ran errands for her brother, took him to the park, and generally made his life 

pleasant and comfortable. The siblings' grandmother wanted to encourage her 

granddaughter to continue helping her brother. Therefore, she called her 

granddaughter and told her that if she continued to take care of her brother for the 

next five years, the grandmother would give the granddaughter her condominium in 

Hawaii. 

 

The granddaughter continued to take care of her brother. However, two years after 

their conversation, the grandmother sold her condominium in Hawaii and told her 

granddaughter that she would not be able to give her the condominium as a gift, as 

she had promised. The granddaughter continued to care for her brother. 

 

If five years after their initial agreement, the granddaughter brings suit against her 

grandmother for breach of contract, which of the following will not be relevant to 

the grandmother's defense? 

 

A. The contract involved the transfer of an interest in real property. 
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B.  The contract involved services that could not be performed within a year. 

 

C. The granddaughter was caring for her brother before the agreement was 

entered into. 

 

D. The grandmother sold the condominium before the end of the five years. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  

Contracts         in the book of wisdom.”   

Spring 2021 - Final Examination          Thomas Jefferson 

 

STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 

 

 

ANSWER ALL THREE ESSAY QUESTIONS IN THE BLUE BOOK USING 

BLUE OR BLACK INK PEN ONLY 

 

Essay - Question #1 

(worth 15 points) 

 

Holmes LTD was a developer and owner of eight units in a development in 

Massachusetts. In August 2017, it entered into eight contracts with Mr. Adams (as the 

purchaser) for the sale of all eight units.  Each contract provided for payment on 

exchange of a deposit equal to ten percent (10%) of the sale price.  As it turned out, no 

deposit was in fact paid on exchange of any of the contracts.  The trial judge found there 

was an oral agreement that existed between the two parties to reduce the amount of each 

deposit to only $500.  It is unclear why this was not properly reflected in the sales 

contracts, but it appears that the developer may not have wanted the reduced amount of 

the deposit to be evident on the face of the sales contracts. 

 

Completion of the contracts was due six weeks after exchange, but this did not occur.  

The developer served notices to complete which were not complied with.  Following this 

the parties entered into negotiations regarding the sale with the developer serving fresh 

notices to complete in late January 2018.  These were again not complied with and 

Holmes LTD terminated each of the contracts for breach. 

 

Holmes LTD eventually sold the eight units to other purchasers and then commenced 

proceeding against Mr. Adams for damages for each contract including for nonpayment 

of the full amount of the deposits. 

 

The trial judge had found the oral agreement existed and was enforceable.  What result on 

appeal?  Fully support your answer. 
 

 

Essay - Question #2 

(worth 20 points) 

 

In response to the defendant’s request for a bid on a two-sided eighty-inch precoater, the 

plaintiff submitted two quotations, one on April 5th, and one on April 27th.  These 

quotations describe in detail the components of the precoater, the precoater’s operation 
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and those materials to be supplied by the plaintiff and the defendant.  Aside from price, 

conditions of sale are not included in the quotations. 

 

On May 2nd, the defendant submitted a requisition/purchase order for the precoater 

described in the plaintiff’s quotations.  The requisition/purchase order contained the 

following language: 

 

 Please enter our order for the following, subject to conditions set forth in this 

 order and/or the reverse side hereof.  Important - this order expressly limits 

 acceptance to terms stated herein, and any additional or different terms proposed 

 by the seller are rejected unless expressly agreed to in writing. 

 

The conditions listed in the Order did not include an indemnification provision. 

 

In response to the defendant’s Order, the plaintiff submitted an Order Acknowledgment 

(“Acknowledgment”) on May 8th.  This Acknowledgment provided that: 

 

 This order is accepted on the condition that our Standard Conditions of Sale, 

 which are attached hereto and made a part hereof, are accepted by you, 

 notwithstanding any modifying or additive conditions contained on your purchase 

 order.  Receipt of this acknowledgment by you without prompt written objection 

 thereto shall constitute an acceptance of these terms and conditions. 

 

Paragraph 12 of the plaintiff’s Standard Conditions of Sale, the provision at issue here, 

provides that 

 

 The purchaser shall use and shall require its employees to use all safety devices 

 and guards and maintain the same in proper working order.  Purchaser shall use 

 and require its employees to use safe operating procedures in operating the 

 equipment. If purchaser fails to observe the obligations contained in this 

 paragraph, purchaser agrees to indemnify and hold Egan harmless from any 

 liability or obligation incurred by Egan to persons injured directly or indirectly in 

 connection with the operations of the equipment.  Purchaser further agrees to 

 notify Egan promptly and in any event within 30 days of any accident or 

 malfunction involving Egan’s equipment which results in personal injury or 

 damage to property and to cooperate fully with Egan in investigating and 

 determining the causes of such accident or malfunction.  In the event the purchaser 

 fails to give such notice to Egan, purchaser agrees to indemnify and hold Egan 

 harmless from any claims arising from such accident or malfunction. 
 

In October, one of the defendant’s employees was injured while operating the precoater 

purchased from the plaintiff. The employee filed suit against the plaintiff and its insurer, 

Amico.  This action culminated in a stipulated judgment by which Amico, as the 



 11 

plaintiff’s insurer paid the Mobil employee $75,000.  The instant action then followed 

the stipulated judgment.  Did the indemnification provision become part of contract?   

Fully support your answer. 
 

Essay - Question #3 

(worth 20 points) 

 

Bill Henry was President of Dynamics Industries, Inc. (DI), a consulting and research 

firm in the field of urban affairs.  Nearly half of DI’s stock was owned by David Colby, 

President of Public Facilities Associates, Inc. (PFA) which was engaged in the 

development of public and private housing and the redevelopment of urban areas.  Colby 

has requested Henry to remain alert to any potentially fruitful investment opportunities 

for PFA. 

 

At the time, Colby and Guy (individual real estate developers) held contracts or options 

on several parcels of real estate.  Henry met Colby while arranging to lease office space 

in a building in which Colby had an interest.  At one of their meetings, Colby revealed to 

Henry details of a plan for the assembly and development of a sizable segment of the 

Boston waterfront into a multi-purpose business complex.  Colby explained that he and 

Guy lacked the financial resources needed to carry the project through and Henry offered 

to put him in touch with Coyer.  Henry promptly apprised Colby of Coyer’s project and 

set up a meeting between them for January.  Ideas were then exchanged but no suggestion 

was made by Henry to Colby or Coyer that he was expected to be paid for bringing them 

together.  By Henry’s arrangement, the group attended meetings in February with 

representatives of subsidiaries of Inland Steel Company.  Again, the plan was discussed 

and again Henry gave no indication that he anticipated a fee for introducing Colby and 

Guy to Coyer and his Inland Associates. 

 

An agreement in principle was reached between Colby, Guy and the Inland Steel Group 

in early April.  This was formalized by a contract in June and a shareholders’ agreement 

executed in August.  Five corporations, among them – Inland, were organized to handle 

the project.  It was not until the end of that previous March however, that Henry asserted 

any monetary claim on behalf of DI for bringing about the initial contract, and it was not 

until May that he asked for compensation for himself.   Henry is seeking a finder’s fee.   

 

A) What argument can be made to support his claim? 

 

B) How will the court likely rule?  Fully support your answer. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  

Contracts Spring 2022       in the book of wisdom.”   

Final Examination      Thomas Jefferson 

 

STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 

 

If you are TYPING the exam, enter all answers to the ten (10) multiple-choice 

questions in the software. No credit will be given if the answers are not selected in the 

software.  

If you are HANDWRITING the exam, use the bubble sheets provided to answer the 

ten (10) multiple-choice questions. Make sure to write and bubble in your ID number 

as well as your answers. No credit will be given if the ID and answers are not bubbled 

in. 

 

Question 1 

(worth 1 point) 

 

An auto manufacturer contracted with a supplier to provide speakers for 10,000 vehicles 

at a total price of $600,000. Prior to the date fixed for delivery of the speakers, the 

supplier without justification informed the manufacturer that it could not supply the 

speakers. The manufacturer immediately sought quotes from other suppliers. The 

manufacturer received a quote from a second supplier, who had previously provided the 

manufacturer with speakers in a timely and satisfactory manner, to sell 10,000 speakers 

for $800,000. A short time later, the manufacturer received an offer from a third supplier, 

with whom the manufacturer had not previously worked: to supply the 10,000 speakers 

for $600,000. The manufacturer, reasonably concerned that the third supplier would be 

unable to provide the speakers in a timely and satisfactory manner, entered into a contract 

with the second supplier. Subsequently, the first supplier told the manufacturer that it 

would be able to supply the speakers by the original delivery date and, although not 

requested by the manufacturer, provided the manufacturer with adequate evidence that 

the speakers would be timely delivered. The manufacturer told the first supplier not to 

deliver the goods and instead acquired them from the second supplier.  The auto 

manufacturer then sued the first supplier for $200,000. 

 

Should the auto manufacturer prevail? 

 

A.    Yes, because the auto manufacturer is entitled to recover the cost of acquiring 

substitute speakers. 

 

B. Yes, because the first supplier had repudiated its contractual obligation. 
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C.  No, because the auto manufacturer was required to mitigate its damages by 

accepting the third supplier's lower offer. 

D.  No, because the first supplier withdrew its repudiation prior to the time for 

performance. 

 

Question 2 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A 16-year-old entered into a written agreement to buy a car from a dealership. She 

made a small down payment and took out a loan from the dealership for the remainder 

of the purchase price. The deal was fair in every respect, and the same as the car 

dealership would give any other customer. After the sale was finalized, the salesman's 

supervisor reviewed the contract, and upon researching the matter further, discovered 

that the girl was only 16. He told the salesperson to call the girl and cancel the 

contract, which he did. In a breach of contract action brought on behalf of the girl, the 

court held for the girl. 

 

What was the reason? 

 

A. The contract is one for necessities. 

 

B. The contract cannot be disaffirmed because of the girl's part performance. 

 

C. The contract is not voidable because the terms were fair. 

 

D. The dealer did not have the right to void the contract. 

 

Question 3 

(worth 1 point) 

 

On January 8, a liquor company sent a signed, written offer to a retailer containing the 

following:  "We will sell you our last 500 cases of our caffeine-infused vodka for $100 

per case." On that same day, but unknown to either party, the state enacted a law 

prohibiting the sale or distribution of the caffeine­ infused vodka due to a number of 

serious health risks connected to the product.  Upon receiving the liquor company's 

offer, the retailer decided to take a couple of days to contemplate the offer.  On January 

15, after not hearing from the retailer, the liquor company decided it was no longer 

willing to sell the vodka to the retailer, but it did not contact the retailer.  On January 

17, the retailer decided that it was not interested in the vodka and placed a letter 

rejecting the offer in the mail.  However, after hearing about the popularity of the 

vodka from a number of patrons that same day, the retailer immediately mailed a 

signed acceptance to the liquor company.  The liquor company received the retailer's 
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acceptance on January 20. Due to an error at the post office, the retailer's initial 

rejection was not received until January 21. The retailer and the liquor company both 

learned of the state law on January 22. 

 

Which of the following is an accurate statement regarding the relationship between the 

retailer and the liquor company as of January 23? 

 

A. No contract was formed because the liquor company's offer was revoked on 

January 15. 

 

B. No contract was formed because the retailer's rejection was effective on January 17. 

 

C.  An enforceable contract was formed on January 20. 

 

D. A contract was formed on January 20, but it is not enforceable due to illegality. 

 

Question 4 

(worth 1 point) 

 

Two roommates lived together in a modest apartment for many years, during which 

time the female roommate purchased many items of furniture for the apartment. These 

items were worth roughly $10,000. When the female roommate decided to relocate 

across the country for a large promotion, she told the male roommate he could have all 

of the furniture when she left at the end of the month, as he had a much lower income. 

He wrote a long thank-you note telling her he was grateful. The next day at work, 

before the female roommate read the note, she learned that her promotion fell through 

and she decided to stay in the apartment. 

 

At the end of the month, can the male roommate enforce the female's promise to give him 

the furniture? 

 

A. Yes, because he accepted the offer of the furniture through the thank-you note. 

 

B.  Yes, because he acquired full ownership of the property upon acceptance. 

 

C. No, because the male roommate did not bargain for a legal detriment in exchange 

for the promise. 

 

D. No, because the female roommate had not yet read the note regarding acceptance. 
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Question 5 

(worth 1 point) 

 

In February, a vendor and a manufacturer entered a written contract under which the 

manufacturer would supply the vendor with a shipment of widgets each month for sale 

in the vendor's business. The contract provided that the manufacturer would "deliver 

100 units of widgets on the last business day of each month until the end of the year." 

The manufacturer made satisfactory deliveries for seven months, and the vendor 

accepted each shipment.  However, the vendor rejected the shipment delivered at the 

end of September.  

 

The manufacturer has sued the vendor for breach of contract. The vendor seeks to 

admit evidence from the pre-contract  negotiations between the parties that the term 

"year" in the  contract was understood by both parties to mean the end of the vendor's 

"fiscal year" in August, and therefore the vendor was under no further obligation to 

accept shipments from the manufacturer. The court has found that the term "year" in 

the contract is ambiguous. 

 

If the court finds that the February written contract is completely integrated, is the 

vendor's proffered evidence admissible? 

 

A. No, because the "four-corners" rule requires that the objective definitions of 

ambiguous contract terms control the meaning of the contract. 

 

B. No, because the parol evidence rule makes this evidence inadmissible. 

 

C. Yes, because the court has found that the term "year" is ambiguous. 

 

D. Yes, because the UCC permits the admission of this evidence even if the term was 

unambiguous. 

 

Question 6 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A customer visited several area car dealerships, looking for a family car. One local car 

dealer named a price for the car that the customer wanted, which the customer asked 

be put in writing. The dealer wrote down the car's unique vehicle identification 

number, the price, the date, and the statement, "Firm offer for 30 days from today's 

date, provided car is in stock." The dealer signed the document. Twenty­ nine days 

later, the customer returned to the dealer. The dealer admitted that the car was still in 

stock, but told the customer that it would now cost $500 more. The customer replied 
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that he was ready, willing and able to buy the car, but only at the lower price. 

 

Does the customer's statement constitute acceptance of the dealer's lower price for the 

car? 

 

A.  Yes, because the customer was not a merchant. 

 

B. Yes, because the dealer was a merchant. 

 

C. No, because the offer was subject to a condition and was therefore not a firm offer. 

 

D. No, because the dealer withdrew the offer of a lower price before the customer 

accepted it. 

 

Question 7 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A college student wanted to purchase a car so she could visit friends at other nearby 

colleges. After looking at a few different used cars, the college student found one she 

liked and entered into negotiations with a salesman for the purchase of the car. The 

college student and the salesman negotiated the terms and financing for the sale of the 

car, including monthly payments, but the salesman informed the college student that 

he would not sell the car to the student unless the student had someone  who could 

guarantee the loan that would be provided to purchase the car. The college student 

contacted her aunt who agreed to guarantee the loan for the student. The aunt 

accompanied the college student to the car dealership and met with the salesman. The 

aunt stated, "I'll guarantee the loan so that my niece can buy this car and enjoy it." The 

salesman and the aunt shook hands. The salesman provided the college student with 

the loan necessary to purchase the car and the student took possession of the car. The 

college student subsequently failed to make any payments on the loan and the entire 

amount has become due. 

 

Can the salesman recover the entire amount of the loan from the aunt? 

 

A. No, because the agreement to guarantee the loan was not in writing. 

 

B. No, because there was no consideration for the aunt's promise to pay the debt. 

 

C. Yes, because the aunt agreed to guarantee the loan. 

 

D. Yes, because the aunt is primarily liable on the loan. 
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Question 8 

(worth 1 point) 

 

The owner of a custom jewelry supply shop placed an order with a manufacturer for 

500 pairs of sterling silver posts of the type that are used to make pierced earrings. 

However, when the manufacturer started to fill the order, it had only 450 pairs of 

sterling silver posts available. 

 

The manufacturer shipped the 450 pairs of sterling silver posts to the shop owner, 

plus 50 pairs of higher-priced 10-karat gold posts, without making any adjustment 

in price. The manufacturer enclosed a note with the order, explaining to the shop 

owner that it was sending the last of the sterling silver posts in stock, plus the 50 

10-karat gold posts to accommodate the buyer. 

 

Did the manufacturer's shipment constitute an acceptance of the shop owner's offer? 

 

A.  Yes, and the shop owner may not reject the substituted goods because they 

are of comparable or greater value. 

 

B. Yes, although it is also a breach of the contract under the perfect tender 

doctrine. 

 

C. No, because it is a counteroffer that the shop owner is free to accept or reject. 

 

D.  No, because it is a breach of the contract under the perfect tender doctrine. 

 

Question 9 

(worth 1 point) 

 

For a number of years, a leasing company has been in charge of leasing the luxury 

skyboxes at a local basketball stadium. During this time, it annually sent area 

businesses personalized "invitations" to lease skyboxes for the season. The 

invitations, which were always sent out several months before each season began, 

contained detailed price terms and language stating that the deadline for responding 

was 10 weeks before the start of the season and that all leases were subject to the 

approval of the management of the leasing company. A local advertising agency 

had always responded to their invitation immediately by registered mail because 

they found it very worthwhile to lease a skybox to entertain their clients. During the 

five years that they had responded affirmatively to the invitation, they never 

received any additional communications from the leasing company regarding 

approval, but the tickets and an invoice would arrive about a week before the season 

began. 
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Several months before the current season, the advertising agency received and 

immediately responded to its invitation. Two weeks before the season began, a 

stunning trade brought the league's most popular star to the city's basketball team, 

prompting a dramatic increase in the demand for tickets. A few days later, the 

advertising agency, which had already scheduled in a number of clients to attend 

games in its skybox, received a notice from the leasing company stating that 

management had not approved the agency's lease of the skybox for this season. In a 

separate announcement to all area businesses, the leasing company announced that 

all available skyboxes would be leased for three- or five-year terms, and that an 

auction of the leases would be conducted if the demand exceeded the supply.  The 

advertising agency decided that it was not financially feasible to commit itself to 

anything longer than a one-year lease. It sent a letter to the leasing company, stating that 

a contract was created between the parties and that the leasing company will be in 

breach if it does not perform. 

 

Is the advertising agency correct in its assertions? 

 

A.  Yes, because the leasing company's failure to reject the advertising agency's 

offer within a reasonable time constituted an acceptance under the 

circumstances. 

 

B. Yes, because the leasing company's "invitation" to the advertising agency was an 

offer, which the agency accepted. 

 

C. No, because the leasing company was entitled to reject the agency's offer 

when it did. 

 

D. No, but the advertising agency would be able to recover reliance damages 

from the leasing company under a quasi-contract theory. 

 

Question 10 

(worth 1 point) 

 

A woman had a developmentally disabled brother who lived in a group home. The 

woman ran errands for her brother, took him to the park, and generally made his life 

pleasant and comfortable. The siblings' grandmother wanted to encourage her 

granddaughter to continue helping her brother. Therefore, she called her 

granddaughter and told her that if she continued to take care of her brother for the 

next five years, the grandmother would give the granddaughter her condominium in 

Hawaii. 

 

The granddaughter continued to take care of her brother. However, two years after 

their conversation, the grandmother sold her condominium in Hawaii and told her 
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granddaughter that she would not be able to give her the condominium as a gift, as 

she had promised. The granddaughter continued to care for her brother. 

 

If five years after their initial agreement, the granddaughter brings suit against her 

grandmother for breach of contract, which of the following will not be relevant to 

the grandmother's defense? 

 

A. The contract involved the transfer of an interest in real property. 

 

B.  The contract involved services that could not be performed within a year. 

 

C. The granddaughter was caring for her brother before the agreement was 

entered into. 

 

D. The grandmother sold the condominium before the end of the five years. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  

Contracts Spring 2022       in the book of wisdom.”   

Final Examination      Thomas Jefferson 

 

STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 

 

If you are TYPING the exam, type all answers to the three (3) essays in the software.  

 

If you are HANDWRITING the exam, use the bluebooks provided to answer the three 

(3) essay questions. Make sure to write your ID number on the front of the bluebooks 

and to label each answer appropriately.  

 

Essay - Question #1 

(worth 20 points) 

 

Ms. Thomas, who was a free-lance trumpeter of the highest quality, had an engagement 

with Boston Symphony Orchestra (“BSO”).  She drove to the city and went to park at a 

multi-story automatic car park.  She’d never parked at this facility before.  There was a 

notice on the outside “Shoe Lane Parking”.  It gave the charges and at the bottom of the 

sign it stated: “All cars parked at owner’s risk”.  Ms. Thomas drove up the entrance.  It 

was not manned.  There was a traffic light that showed red.  As she drove in and got to 

the appropriate place, the traffic light turned green and a ticket came out from the 

machine.  Ms. Thomas took the ticket.  The ticket was headed “Shoe Lane Parking”.  Just 

below there was a “box” in which it automatically recorded the time the car entered the 

parking facility.  There was a notice alongside: “Please present this ticket to cashier to 

claim your car”.   Just below the time, there was some small print in the left hand corner, 

which stated: “This ticket is issued subject to the conditions of issue as displayed on the 

premises.”  Ms. Thomas had looked at the ticket.  She could see there was printing on it 

but did not read it.  She only read the time.  She did not read the words which said the 

ticket was issued subject to the conditions as displayed on the premises.   

 

If Ms. Thomas had read those words and had looked around the premises to see where 

the conditions were displayed, she would have found them on a pillar opposite the ticket 

machine:  a set of printed conditions in a panel.  She would have also found, in the paying 

office (to be visited when coming back for the car) another panel containing the printed 

conditions.  If she had taken the time to read the conditions – she would read this: 

 

CONDITIONS:  The following are the conditions upon which motor vehicles are 

accepted for parking: 

 

1. The customer agrees to pay the charges of Shoe Lane Parking 

Developments Limited.  
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2. The Customer is deemed to be fully insured at all times against all risks 

(including, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, fire, 

damage and theft, whether due to the negligence of others or not) and 

the Company shall not be responsible or liable for any loss or 

misdelivery of or damage of whatever kind to the Customer’s motor 

vehicle, or any articles carried therein or thereon or of or to any 

accessories carried thereon or therein or injury to the Customer or any 

other person occurring: when the Customer’s motor vehicle is in the 

Parking Building howsoever that loss, misdelivery, damage or injury 

shall be caused; and it is agreed and understood that the Customer’s 

motor vehicle is parked and permitted by the Company to be parked in 

the Parking Building in accordance with this License entirely at the 

Customer’s risk.” 

 

She drove on into the garage.  Her car was taken up by mechanical means to the floor 

above.  Ms. Thomas left it there and went off to her engagement.  Three hours later, Ms. 

Thomas came back.  She went to the office and paid the charge.  Her car was brought 

down from the upper floor.  She went to put her trumpet case into the car.  Unfortunately, 

there was an accident.  Ms. Thomas was severely injured. 

 

The parking company seeks by this condition to exempt themselves from liability, not 

only to damage to the car, but also for injury to the customer.   

 

What result?  Fully support and analyze all contractual issues. 
 

 

Essay - Question #2 

(worth 15 points) 

 

Lance and Pamela fell behind on their loan payments to the Credit Union.  They 

restructured their debt in an agreement dated February 26, 2021, which confirmed 

outstanding loans with a total delinquency of $776,380.24.  In the new agreement dated 

February 26, 2021, the Credit Union promised it would take no enforcement action until 

June 11, 2021, if Lance and Pamela (“Debtors”) made specified payments.  As additional 

collateral, the Debtors pledged three separate parcels of real property.  They initialed the 

pages bearing the legal descriptions of these parcels. 

 

The Debtors did not make the required payments.  On February 21, 2022, the Credit 

Union recorded a notice of default.  Eventually, the Debtors repaid the loan and the 

Credit Union dismissed its foreclosure proceedings.  The Debtors then filed this action, 

seeking damages for fraud and negligent misrepresentation, and including causes of 

action for recission and reformation of the restructuring agreement.  The Debtors alleged 

that the Credit Union’s V.P. met with them two weeks before the agreement was signed, 



 11 

and told them the Credit Union would extend the loan for two years in exchange for 

additional collateral consisting of the two ranch homes.  The Debtors further claimed that 

when they signed the agreement, the V.P. assured them its term was two years and the 

ranch homes were the only additional collateral. 

 

The Credit Union moved for summary judgment. 

 

A) What are the Debtors’ arguments? 

 

B) What are the Credit Union’s arguments? 

 

C) What is the likely result of the court? 

 

Fully analyze your answers. 
 

 

Essay - Question #3 

(worth 20 points) 
 

Buyer sent to seller a purchase order for 1,000 cellphones at a price of $350.00 per 

phone.  The purchase order had a provision stating the buyer has three years to bring 

forward any breach of warranty claim.  Seller responds to purchase order with an 

acknowledgement confirming the quantity and price.  Additionally, the 

acknowledgement had the following clauses:   

  

1. Warranty claims must by asserted within one year. 

 

2. Seller’s acceptance is hereby expressly made conditional on buyer’s assent to 

any additional or different terms of the acknowledgement.  
 

The above reflect the only communications between the parties.  Fully discuss whether 

there is an enforceable contract. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
c:\users\lussier\documents\shared\old_docs\diane\contracts\2022 final exam.docx 



Professor Sullivan     “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2011- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 
 
 
Short Answer Question  
(worth 5 points) 
 
On March 25, Polly sent a purchase order for100 chairs to Easy Manufacturing 
Company.  The purchase order contained the following language:  BUYER OBJECTS IN 
ADVANCE TO ANY TERMS PROPOSED BY SELLER THAT DIFFER FROM 
THESE.  Easy Manufacturing received the order and on March 29, sent back an 
acknowledgment disclaiming all warranties and stating:  THIS IS NOT AN 
ACCEPTANCE UNLESS BUYER ASSENTS TO ALL OUR TERMS. 
Is there a contract?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Put Answer on Multiple Choice Answer Sheet 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Short Answer Question  
 
Answer here:  __________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 



CONRACTS – PROFESSOR SULLIVAN 
FINAL EXAMINATION 
ESSAY PORTION 
 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 20 points) 
 
1. Brown-Mx is a Massachusetts limited partnership with Gary Sullivan its sole 
general partner.  Sullivan formed the partnership to purchase and renovate an office 
building in Boston.  In May, 2009, Brown-Mx obtained a loan commitment for 
permanent financing of the building from State Savings Bank of MA (hereinafter 
“Bank”) Brown-Mx paid the bank $25,000 for the commitment, which was to expire May 
1, 2010.  Later Brown-Mx paid the bank $12,500.00 to extend the commitment to 
November 1, 2010. 
 
Under the commitment the bank agreed to lend Brown-Mx 1.1 million provided 
satisfactory documentation of renovations, signed leases providing for at least $714,447 
annual rentals, and a satisfactory appraisal that the building was worth at least $2.4 
million.  The commitment provided in the alternative for a “floor loan” of $750,000 if the 
major requirements for the ceiling loan were not met.  The provisions for the alternative 
loans, floor or ceiling, are at the heart of the dispute.  The bank agreed to lend 1.1 million 
secured by a permanent mortgage on the ***[building]. 
 
2. Loan to close the following being satisfactorily complied with: 
 
 a. Exhibition of all required government certificates, permits, licenses, etc. 
 b. [details of renovation to be done “in a workmanlike manner satisfactory to 
   bank.”] 

c. Exhibition of signed leases for a term of not less than one year covering not 
more than 140,449 net rentable square feet at a rental for not less than 
$714,447 per annum, and the space rented is rented on a basis so that if the 
building were 100% rented, the annual rent roll would be at least $840,500. 
Said rentals to be on an unfurnished basis without any concession offsets 
thereto. Leases to be approved by the bank and assigned to the bank. 

 
It is also understood and agreed that in the event that condition #2.a is met, but conditions 
2.b, and 2.c are not, the loan shall be in the amount of $750,000. 

  
The loan, whether ceiling or floor amount, was to be secured by a first mortgage on the 
building. 
 
On the strength of this commitment Brown-Mx obtained from two Massachusetts banks 
$1.1 million interim financing to purchase and renovate the building, to be repaid from 



the proceeds of the permanent loan from State Savings Bank of MA.  Brown-Mx bought 
the building, renovated it, and proceeded to lease space in it. 
 
State Savings Bank of MA refused to lend the money on the ceiling amount, maintaining 
among other things that Brown-Mx had failed to satisfy the minimum rental requirements 
of the commitment.1 
 
Brown-Mx sued the bank alleging breach of contract.   
What result?  Discuss all issues presented. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 30 points) 
 
Since 1976, Marine Corp. (“Marine”)  has been engaged in the business of performing 
various specialized types of marine repair work, principally in the greater Boston area but 
as far away as Newport, R.I., and Portland, Maine (each of which is approximately 100 
miles of Boston).  Marine is one of a very few companies in the greater Boston area 
which engages primarily in such specialized repair work, although there are shipyards 
which compete for such work.  Marine conducts its business by retaining only two or 
three permanent supervisors and by hiring crews of part-time workers as necessary for 
particular jobs.  It relies on the ability of its supervisors to assemble workers with the 
particular skills which are needed for each job. 
 
In 1988, Marine created an “Employee Retirement Plan and Trust” (the Trust) for the 
benefit of its permanent employees.  The sole trustee of the trust, Nancy Thomas 
(Thomas) is also the President/Treasurer, sole stockholder, and a Director of Marine.  The 
trust agreement provides for annual contributions by Marine to the trust based on the 
company’s net income. 
 
All questions concerning construction of the trust agreement, including those involving 
the powers and duties of the trustee, are to be decided by an administrative committee 
appointed by Marine.  Funds accumulated under the trust accrue solely to the benefit of 
the participants, and can never revert to or be used for the benefit of Marine.  As to 
distribution of benefits, the trust agreement provides in relevant part that when a 
participant leaves the employ of the company for reasons other than disability or 
retirement at age sixty-five than an amount equal to his vested share of the trust is 
required to be segregated into a separate savings account and held by the trustee for a five 
year period.  Only after the expiration of the five year period may the trustee distribute 
those benefits (plus accumulated interest) to the participant.  The purpose of the waiting 
period, as stated in the trust agreement, is to “encourage all employees to become and to 
remain participants in the …..[trust]”. 

                                                 
1Brown-Mx conceding that some leases were properly excludable from the tally, maintained below that annual 
rentals were $713,526.  The bank calculated that at most they were $706,176.    



Harley was a permanent employee of Marine from 2003 until April 1, 2010.  She was the 
general superintendent of the business, and her duties included estimating and preparing 
bids, in addition to the supervision of ongoing work.  As a result of this employment 
Harley became skilled in Marine contracting both as a field supervisor and as an 
estimator and bidder.  As a permanent employee Harley was a participant in the trust, and 
by 2010 her vested share amounted to $120,000.  Sometime in March 2010, Harley 
notified Thomas of her plan to leave Marine’s employ as of April 1 in order to return to 
her hometown of Stewarts Town, New Hampshire.  Thomas offered to make immediate 
payment to Harley of her vested share of the trust in return for Harley’s promises not to 
compete with Marine. Harley agreed to this proposal.  On April, 1, Harley and Marine 
(represented by Thomas) signed an “agreement not to compete” in which Harley, “in 
consideration of one dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable consideration,” promised 
not to compete with Marine, directly or indirectly within 100 miles of Boston for five 
years.  On the same date, Harley received the full amount of her share in the trust.   
 
Starting in August of 2010, Harley began to perform Marine work similar to the work of 
Marine.  The jobs she performed were within 100 miles of Boston and at least some were 
performed for customers known by Harley to be customers of Marine.  During this time 
counsel for Marine put Harley on notice that she was violating the agreement not to 
compete.  Harley responded she did not intend to comply with the terms of that 
agreement.  In January, 2011, Harley formed her own corporation to undertake the work 
which she had been doing as an individual.  By that time the other two key supervisory 
employees who had been working for Marine as of April 11, 2010, had quit Marine and 
were working for Harley. 
 
Marine filed suit in April of 2011 and an injunction issued on May 1, 2011.  Harley seeks 
to vacate the injunction. What result?  Fully support your answer. 
 
 
   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 1 

Short Answer Question  
 
Answer here:  __________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
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Professor Sullivan     “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2012- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 
 
Short Answer Question  
(worth 5 points) 
 
On March 25, Polly sent a purchase order for100 chairs to Easy Manufacturing 
Company.  The purchase order contained the following language:  BUYER OBJECTS IN 
ADVANCE TO ANY TERMS PROPOSED BY SELLER THAT DIFFER FROM 
THESE.  Easy Manufacturing received the order and on March 29, sent back an 
acknowledgment disclaiming all warranties and stating:  THIS IS NOT AN 
ACCEPTANCE UNLESS BUYER ASSENTS TO ALL OUR TERMS. 
Is there a contract?  Fully support your answer. 
 

PUT ANSWER ON MULTIPLE CHOICE ANSWER SHEET  
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Professor Sullivan     “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2012- Final Exam      Thomas Jefferson 
Essay Portion           
 

ANSWER ALL ESSAY QUESTIONS IN BLUE BOOK 
 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 15 points) 
 
Plaintiff alleges that it was induced to enter into a contract of sale of a building held by 
defendants because of oral representations, falsely made by the defendants, as to the 
operating expense of the building and as to the profits to be derived from the investment.  
The signed contract by both parties contains the following language: “The purchaser has 
examined the premises agreed to be sold and is familiar with the physical condition 
thereof.  The seller has not made and does not make any representations as to the physical 
condition, rents, leases, expenses, operation or any other matter or thing affecting or 
related to the aforesaid premises, except as herein specifically set forth, and the Purchaser 
hereby expressly acknowledges that no such representations have been made, and the 
Purchaser further acknowledges that it has inspected the premises and agrees to take the 
premises “as is”. . . It is understood and agreed that all understandings and agreements 
had between the parties hereto are merged in this contract, which alone fully and 
completely expresses their agreement, and that the same is entered into after full 
investigation, neither party relying upon any statement or representation, not embodied in 
this contract, made by the other.  The purchaser has inspected the building standing on 
said premises and is thoroughly acquainted with the condition.” 
What result when plaintiff files suit?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 15 points) 
 
The Busby’s contracted in 2007 to purchase ten acres of undeveloped land from a 
partnership comprised of the defendants (Evans) for a total of $250,000.00.  Part of the 
price was paid at closing, with the remainder to be paid later.  The Evans were to convey 
legal title on receipt of payment in full. 
 
The land sold was zoned for agriculture use at the time of the contract, with no more than 
one residence per ten acre parcel permitted.  The parties had hopes of developing the area 
more extensively than the zoning permitted, but their hopes did not prove feasible.  
Property values in the area have generally declined since the contract was made.  The 
contract was reduced to writing by filling in a pre-printed form entitled “Uniform Real 
Estate Contract,” into which the following typewritten words were inserted: 
 
 



 4 

The Seller hereby agrees and warrants to furnishing water and electrical power and road 
to this Property by July, 2008.  If Buyer is unable to obtain a building permit by July 
2008 the seller agrees to indemnify and repay this contract within 6 months. 
 
This insertion in the original contract was the subject of a “Supplemental Agreement” 
dated November 3, 2008, which read as follows: 
 
 Because of unforeseen circumstances that have arisen with regard to  furnishing 
utilities to the subject property, the following Supplemental Agreement is added . . . . It is 
now understood and agreed that the Sellers at their expense will furnish to each of (2-5 
acre) plots, the culinary water, electrical power, and roads.  The Buyer is to pay $1,000 
hook-up and  installation fee for culinary water.  The fee is to be paid at the time of home 
construction and no fees payable for electrical power or roads, to property fade lines. 
 
 If Buyers should sell any lots from their 5 acre plots, then and in this event  a 
$4,000 utilities improvement fee is payable to Sellers at the time of sale for each and 
every lot sold.  This pays for the utilities, roads, electrical power and culinary water.  
Buyers of these lots would pay in addition $1,000 culinary water hook-up and installation 
fee. 
 
 Sellers hereby agree to furnish at their cost, sewer facilities to each of these 5 acre 
plots . . .  
 
 It is further understood and agreed that if the Sellers are unable to furnish these 
utilities on or before October 15, 2010 the Sellers agree to indemnify and repay this 
contract within six months.  
 
 The provisions of this Supplemental Agreement shall not alter or reduce in  any 
way the conditions, terms, and provisions of the original contract. 
 
 At the time of trial, Sellers had not furnished water to the property, but the  court 
found that they were “ready, willing, and able at all times” to supply  the required water.  
Buyers, however, had not obtained, or applied for, a building permit, and had not paid the 
$1,000 hook-up and installation fee.  The trial court found that the Buyers had “decided 
not to build on the property because they were going to live elsewhere.” 
 
What result on appeal?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 15 points) 
 
In 2010, defendant hired Smith to sell a line of prescription drugs to retail pharmacies in 
several eastern states.  Prior to being offered employment, Smith signed an employment 
application which stated, in part:  “I understand and agree, if hired, my employment is for 
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no definite period, and may regardless of the date of payment of my wages and salary, be 
terminated at any time without any prior notice.”  
 
In February, 2011, Smith accepted a substantial promotion to regional sales manager for 
the western United States.  He relied upon defendant’s representations that the drugs 
development was in place.  Defendant made unsuccessful efforts to correct some drug 
related issues regarding the matter and Smith lost commissions when the drug was 
delayed as a result. 
 
In April 2011, Smith was directed to sell the drug in Hawaii even though the drug was 
not fully ready.  In May 2011, defendant adopted a personnel policy, not intended to be 
retroactive, that sales people were to be terminated “if not at quota for two full quarters or 
letter of explanation is required.”  On December 31, 2011, Smith was fired because he 
was not at quota for two successive quarters.  There was evidence that he would have 
been at quota if there were no problems with the drug’s development.  Smith sued 
defendant.  What result?   
Fully support your answer. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2013- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 

 
ANSWER ALL ESSAY QUESTIONS IN BLUE BOOK 

 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Defendants, owners of a two-acre parcel in Essex County, on October 16, 2012 
contracted for the sale of the property to plaintiff, a real estate investor and developer.  
The purchase price was fixed at $750,000 - $25,000 payable on contract execution, 
$225,000 to be paid in cash on closing (to take place “on or about December 1, 2012”) 
and the $500,000 balance secured by a purchase – money mortgage payable two years 
later. 
 
The parties signed a printed form contract of sale, supplemented by several of their own 
paragraphs.  Two provisions of the contract have particular relevance to the present 
dispute – a reciprocal cancellation provision (para. 31) and a merger clause (para. 19).  
Paragraph 31, one of the provisions the parties added to the contract form reads, “The 
parties acknowledge that sellers have been served with process instituting an action 
concerned with the real property which is the subject of this agreement.  In the event the 
closing of title is delayed by reason of such litigation, it is agreed that closing of title will 
in a like manner be adjourned until after the conclusion of such litigation; provided, in the 
event such litigation is not concluded, by or before 4.1.2013, either party shall have the 
right to cancel this contract whereupon the down payment shall be returned and there 
shall be no further rights hereunder.”  Paragraph 19 is the form merger provision, 
reading: “All prior understandings and agreements between seller and purchaser are 
merged in this contract (and it) completely expresses their full agreement.  It has been 
entered into after full investigation, neither party relying upon any statements made by 
anyone else that are not set forth in this contract.” 
 
The contract of sale, in other paragraphs the parties added to the printed form provided 
that the purchaser alone had the unconditional right to cancel the contract within 10 days 
of signing (para. 32), and that the purchaser alone had the option to cancel if, at closing, 
the seller was unable to deliver building permits for 50 senior citizen housing units (para 
29). 
 
The contract in fact did not close on December 1, 2012, as originally contemplated.  As 
April 1, 2013 neared with the litigation still unresolved, plaintiff on March 13 wrote 
defendants that it was prepared to close and would appear for closing. On March 28, 
2013; plaintiff instituted the present action for specific performance.  On April 2, 2013, 
defendants canceled the contract and returned the down payment, which plaintiff refused.  
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Defendants thereafter sought summary judgment dismissing the specific performance 
action on the ground that the contract gave them the absolute right to cancel. 
 
Plaintiff’s claim to specific performance rests upon its recitation of how paragraph 31 
originated.  Those facts are set forth in the affidavit of plaintiff’s vice president submitted 
in opposition to defendant’s summary judgment motion.  
 
As Plaintiff explains, during contract negotiations it learned that, as a result of unrelated 
litigation against defendant a lis pendens had been filed against the property.1  Although 
assured by defendants that the suit was meritless, plaintiff anticipated difficulty obtaining 
a construction loan (including title insurance for the loan) needed to implement its plans 
to build senior citizen housing units.  According to the affidavit, it was therefore agreed 
that paragraph 31 would be added for plaintiff’s sole benefit, as contract vendor.  As it  
developed, plaintiff’s fears proved groundless – the lis pendens did not impede its ability 
to secure construction financing.  However, around March 2013, plaintiff claims it 
learned from the broker on the transaction that one of the defendants had told him they 
were doing nothing to defend the litigation awaiting April 2, 2013 to cancel the contract 
and suggested the broker might get a higher price.   
How should the court rule?  Fully support your answer. 
  
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Following his graduation from Tufts University, Dr. Hale began working part-time as a 
veterinarian at the Andover Pet Clinic, Inc. (“Andover Pet”) in July 2008.  Andover Pet 
specializes in the care of small animals, mostly domesticated dogs, and cats.  Dr. Hale 
practiced under the guidance and direction of the President of Andover Pet Clinic, Dr. 
James.  Dr. James, on behalf of Andover Pet offered Dr. Hale full-time employment in 
February of 2009.  The oral offer included a specified salary and potential for bonus 
earnings, as well as other terms of employment.  According to Dr. James, he conditioned 
the offer on Dr. Hale’s acceptance of a covenant not to compete, the specific details of 
which were not discussed at the time. Dr. Hale commenced full-time employment with 
Andover Pet under oral agreement in March of 2009, and relocated to Lawrence, 
discontinuing his commute from his former residence in Cambridge. 
 
A written employment agreement incorporating the terms of the oral agreement was 
finally executed by the parties on December 11, 2009.  Ancillary to the provisions for 
employment, the agreement detailed the terms of a covenant not to compete.  “12. This 
agreement may be terminated by either party upon 30 days notice to the other party.  
Upon termination, Dr. Hale agrees that he will not practice small animal medicine for a 
period of three years from the date of termination within five miles of the limits of the 

                                                 
1 A lis pendens, by giving notice of an imminent lawsuit, warns any interested party to be aware of the proceeding. 
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Town of Andover.  Dr. Hale agrees that the duration and geographic scope of that 
limitation is reasonable”.   The agreement was antedated to be effective to March 3, 2009. 
 
The parties executed an addendum to the agreement on June 1, 2009.  The addendum 
provided that Andover Pet and a newly acquired corporate entity, Andover Pet Hospital, 
Inc., also located in Andover, would share Dr. Hales’s professional services. The 
President of Andover Pet Clinic and Andover Pet Hospital Dr. James agreed in the 
addendum, to raise Dr. Hales’ salary.  The bonus provision of the original agreement was 
eliminated.  Except as modified, the other terms of the March 3, 2009 employment 
agreement, including the covenant not to compete, were re-affirmed and Dr. Hale 
continued his employment.  
 
One year later, reacting to a rumor that Dr. Hale was investigating the purchase of a 
veterinary practice in Andover, Dr. James asked his attorney to prepare a letter which was 
presented to Dr. Hale.  The letter dated June 17, 2011, stated: 
 

“I have learned that you are considering leaving us to take over the small animal 
part of Dr. Boer’s practice in Andover.” 
 
“When we negotiated the terms of your employment, we agreed that you could 
leave upon thirty (30) days notice, but that you would not practice small animal 
medicine within five miles of Andover for a three year period.  We do not have 
any non-competition agreement for large animal medicine, which therefore does 
not enter into the picture.” 
  
“I am willing to release you from the non-competition agreement in return for a 
cash buy-out.  I have worked back from the proportion of the income of Andover 
Pet and Andover Pet Hospital which you contribute and have decided that a 
reasonable figure would be $40,000.00, to compensate the practice for the loss of 
business which will happen if you practice small animal medicine elsewhere in 
Andover.” 
 
“If you are willing to approach the problem in the way I suggest, please let me 
know and I will have the appropriate paperwork taken care of.” 
 

“Sincerely,  
(signed) Bruce James, D.V.M.” 

 
Dr. Hale responded to the letter by denying that he was going to purchase Dr. Boer’s 
practice.  Dr. Hale told Dr. James that the employment agreement was not worth the 
paper it was written on and that he could do anything he wanted to do.  Dr. James 
terminated Dr. Hale’s employment and informed him to consider the thirty day notice as 
having been given. An unsigned, hand written note from Dr. James to Dr. Hale, dated 
June 18, 2011, affirmed the termination and notice providing in part: “Per your request to 
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abide by your employment agreement with Andover Pet and Andover Pet Hospital as 
regards to termination: Be advised that your last day of employment is July 18, 2011, for 
reasons that we are both aware of and have discussed previously.” 
 
Subsequently, Dr. Hale purchased Mill City Veterinary Clinic (“Mill City”).  Beginning 
on July 15, 2011, Dr. Hale operated Mill City in violation of the covenant not to compete 
within the Town of Andover and with a practice including large and small animals under 
Dr. Hale’s guidance.  Mill City’s client list grew from 368 at the time he purchased the 
practice to approximately 950 at the time of trial.  A comparison of client lists disclosed 
that 187 clients served by Dr. Hale at Mill City were also clients of Andover Pet or 
Andover Pet Hospital.  Some of these shared clients received permissible large animal 
services from Dr. Hale.  Overall, the small animal work contributed from fifty-one, to 
fifty-two percent of Dr. Hale’s gross income at Mill City. 
 
Andover Pet and Andover Pet Hospital filed a complaint against Dr. Hale on November 
15, 2011, seeking injunctive relief and damages for breach. 
What result?  Fully analyze your answer.  
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 10 points) 
 
Tread Inc. sells treadmills through a series of regional distributors.  Each contract 
confines the distributor to a specified territory.  The Massachusetts distributor was given 
exclusive rights in Massachusetts, while the New Hampshire distributor had rights in 
New Hampshire.  When the New Hampshire distributor began selling treadmills in 
Northern Massachusetts, it was sued by the Massachusetts distributor. 
 
A). What are the New Hampshire distributor’s defenses to the law suit? 
 
B). What outcome?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #4 
(worth 5 points) 
 
Buyer & Seller enter negotiations.  Buyer then mails a purchase order to seller.  The purchase 
order specified the price of $10,000.00 and shipping instructions.  However, absent were any 
warranties or remedies.  The seller responded with a written acknowledgment to buyer which 
accepted the order and agreed as to the price, quantity, and shipping instructions.  The 
acknowledgment also contained a clause excluding liability for consequential damages.  Seller 
then ships the goods. 
 
Discuss whether a contract exists and, if so, what the terms are. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2014- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 

ANSWER ALL ESSAY QUESTIONS IN BLUE BOOK 
 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 25 points) 
 
In November of 2013, a Beech Baron aircraft piloted by Walter Graham crashed while in 
route from Lawrence to Springfield, killing Graham and his three passengers.  Graham 
had rented the plane from Southern Skyways, Inc. (“SS”) in order to carry out an air taxi 
business that he operated.  The entire SS fleet of airplanes was insured by National Union 
but, under Graham’s arrangement with SS he was required to maintain separate liability 
coverage.  Graham thus contracted to purchase an American Eagle insurance policy, but 
the parties dispute whether this coverage was to be exclusive of, or in addition to, 
National Union’s policy in the event of loss during his use. 
 
American Eagle contends that both policies covered any loss to Graham and his 
passengers, and it points out that both policies contain “other insurance” clauses allowing 
for sharing of liability on a pro rata basis with other insurers.  Therefore it argues, 
National Union should be liable for contribution for the expense that American Eagle 
incurred when the latter settled claims for approximately $1,000.000 following the crash.  
In support, American Eagle cites the express wording of Endorsement 14 of National 
Union’s policy, which states that its coverage extends to “any person operating the 
aircraft under the terms of any rental agreement or training program which provides any 
remuneration to SS for the use of such aircraft.”  Because Graham was paying rent under 
a sublease for SS’s plane, American Eagle contends that National Union’s policy 
unambiguously covered the rented aircraft. 
 
National Union counters, however, that Graham and American Eagle intended American 
Eagle’s policy to provide the sole coverage to Graham.  National Union submits that 
when Graham arranged to sublease the plane from SS, its president, Monte George, 
explained to SS, “insurance wouldn’t cover (Graham’s) air taxi business and he would 
have to get his own insurance on the aircraft.”  In addition, National Union offers the 
testimony of William Clark, coincidentally the insurance agent for both American Eagle 
and National Union.  Clark would testify that his understanding of Graham’s insurance 
plans was that American Eagle’s policy was to be the only one covering Graham in this 
situation. 
 
National Union thus argues that it would be inequitable to hold it liable for contribution 
to which it never agreed.  It urges the court to consider this evidence surrounding the 
formation of the insurance policies at issue here.   
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A). You are counsel to American Eagle.  What is your argument? 
 
B). How would the court rule?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 10 points) 
 
Only More Foods (“OMF”) regularly purchased cartons for shipping can goods.  OMF 
would submit a purchase order for a specific quantity of cartons, and Carbon Cartons 
would send an invoice.  The following clause appeared on the back of the invoices and 
also on a price list Carbon Cartons sent out regularly to its customers: 
 

In addition to the purchase price, Buyer will pay Seller the governmental taxes that 
Seller may be required to pay with respect to the production, sale, or transportation 
of any materials hereunder. 

 
In 2013, OMF threatened to buy elsewhere from a seller that would not have to charge 
local sales tax because the seller took orders outside the local office.  Carbon Cartons told 
OMF to submit orders to Carbon Cartons non-local office, and stopped charging sales 
taxes on OMF’s orders.  The Massachusetts Tax Authority decided that Carbon Cartons 
should have been charging taxes and assessed Carbon Cartons for back taxes for its 
transactions with OMF.  Carbon Cartons sought reimbursement from OMF citing the 
indemnifications clause included in the invoice. 
What result?  Fully analyze your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 10 points) 
 
Linda conveyed land to Milly, who assumed and agreed to pay to Bank a debt owed by 
Linda that was secured by a mortgage on the land.  Before Bank learned of the contract, 
Milly sold it to Cindy, who assumed and agreed to pay the debt.  At the time of the 
transaction between Milly and Cindy, Linda sent a letter to Milly releasing her from her 
promise to pay Bank, effective upon Cindy’s assumption of the duty to pay.   
Does the Bank have any rights against Milly?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #4 
(worth 10 points) 
 
A). Assignee sues obligor on the claim.  Obligor defends by claiming her duty is 
discharged by full performance rendered to assignor. 
Who Prevails?  Fully support your answer. 
 
B). Assignee sues obligor on the claim.  Obligor defends by claiming that his duty is  
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discharged by a material breach by the assignor of the contract between obligor and 
Assignor.  Who prevails?  Does it matter whether breach by assignor occurred before or 
after notice of the assignment to the obligor? 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts         in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2015- Final Examination          Thomas Jefferson 
 
STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 
 
**PLACE MULTIPLE CHOICE ANSWERS ON THE SEPARATE 
SCANTRON ANSWER SHEET** 
 
 Answers that have not been placed on the Scantron Answer Sheet WILL 

NOT be scored.  
 No additional time will be given for transferring answers onto the answer 

sheet.  
 Use pencil only for the Scantron 
 
Question One and Question Two are based on the following fact pattern:   
 
 During 2013, a series of burglaries, one of which occurred at Home Depot, hit the Town 
of Sterling.  In early 2014, Sterling’s City Council adopted this resolution:  The Town 
will pay $5,000 for the arrest and conviction of anyone found guilty of any of the 2013 
burglaries committed here. 
 
The foregoing was televised by the town’s only television station once daily for one 
week.  Subsequently, Home Depot, by a written memorandum to Gus, a private detective, 
proposed to pay Gus $250 for each day’s work he actually performed in investigating; 
thereafter, in August 2014, the Town Council by resolution repealed its reward offer, and 
caused this resolution to be broadcast once daily for a week over two local radio stations, 
the local television station, having meanwhile ceased operations.  In September 2014, a 
Home Depot employee voluntarily confessed to Gus to having committed all of the 2013 
burglaries.  Home Depot’s President thereupon paid Gus at the proposed daily rate for his 
investigation and suggested that Gus also claim the town’s reward, of which Gus had 
been previously unaware.  Gus immediately made the claim.  In December 2014, as a 
result of Gus’s investigation, the Home Depot employee was convicted of burglarizing 
the store.  The Town, which has no immunity to suit, has since refused to pay Gus 
anything, although he swears that he never heard of the City’s repeal before claiming its 
reward.    
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2015- Final Examination    Thomas Jefferson 
 

ANSWER ALL ESSAY THREE (3) QUESTIONS IN THE BLUE BOOK USING 
BLUE OR BLACK INK PEN ONLY 

 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Channel Home Centers (“Channel”), a division of Grace Retail Corporation, operates 
retail home improvement stores throughout the Northeastern United States.  Frank 
Grossman, either owns or has a controlling interest in appellees Tri-Star Associates (“Tri-
Star”), Baker Investment Corporation (“Baker”), and Cedarbrook Associates 
(“Cedarbrook”). 
 
In the third week of November, 2012, Tri-Star wrote to Richard Perkowski, Director of 
Real Estate for Channel, informing him of the availability of a store location in 
Cedarbrook Mall (“the Mall”) which Tri-Star believed Channel would be interested in 
leasing.  Perkowski expressed some interest, and met the Grossmans on November 28, 
2012.   
 
After Perkowski was given a tour of the premises, the terms of a lease were discussed.  
Frank Grossman testified that “we discussed various terms, and these terms were, some 
were loose, some were more or less terms.” 
 
In a memorandum dated December 7, 2012, to S. Charles Tabak, Channel’s senior vice-
president for general administration, Perkowski outlined the salient lease terms that he 
had negotiated with the Grossmans.  On or about the same date, Tabak and Leon Burger, 
President of Channel, visited the mall site with the Grossmans.  They indicated that 
Channel desired to lease the site.  Frank Grossman then requested that Channel execute a 
letter of intent that, as Grossman put it, could be shown to “other people, banks or 
whatever.”  Tabak testified that the Grossmans wanted to get Channel into the site 
because it would give the Mall four “anchor” stores.  Apparently, Frank Grossman was 
anxious to get Channel’s signature on a letter of intent so that it could be used to help 
Grossman secure financing for his purchase of the Mall. 
 
On December 11, 2012, in response to Grossman’s request, Channel prepared, executed, 
and submitted a detailed letter of intent setting forth a plethora of lease terms which 
provided, inter alia, that (t)o induce the Tenant (Channel) to proceed with the leasing of 
the Store, you (Grossman) will withdraw the Store from the rental market, and only 
negotiate the above described leasing transaction to completion. 
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Please acknowledge your intent to proceed with the leasing of the store under the above 
terms, conditions and understanding by signing the enclosed copy of the letter and 
returning it to the undersigned within ten (10) days from the date hereof.1  

                                                 
1 The full December 11, 2012 letter, on Channel stationery, reads as follows: 
 

Dear Mr. Grossman: 
 
The Channel Home Centers Division of Grace Retail Corporation has approved the 

leasing of a store at the above described location subject to the terms and conditions of this letter. 
The purpose of this letter is to express the understanding under which an Agreement of Lease, 
prepared by Tenant, but in a mutually satisfactory form, is to be executed by the owner of the 
Shopping Center, as Landlord and Grace Retail Corporation, as Tenant. 

 
The Landlord will lease to the Tenant the following described Store located in the 

captioned Shopping Center, all as shown and described on the copy of your leasing brochure 
attached to this letter and on the following terms: 

 
1. Store: Existing 70,400 sq. ft. area designated in the attached leasing brochure as space 

“1” on lower level of mall beneath Jamesway Department Store, together with use of outdoor 
area for storage and sales. Such area located in portion of parking lot adjacent to space “1”. 

 
2. Term & Rent: Term of twenty-five (25) years commencing the date Tenant opens for 

business during which Tenant will pay Annual Rent in the amounts set forth below plus 
Percentage Rent of two (2) percent of Gross Sales during each lease year in excess of the Gross 
Sales Break Point set forth below: 
 
Lease Year Annual Rent  Gross Sales 
     Break Point 
1-5  $112,500  10.0 MM 
6-10  $137,500  11.0 MM 
11-15  $162,500  12.1 MM 
16-20  $187,500  13.3 MM 
21-25  $212,500  14.6 MM    
      

3. Option Periods: Tenant’s right to extend for four (4) option periods of five (5) years 
each, on the same terms as during the initial term, except that during each exercised option 
period, the Annual Rent shall be increased once by $25,000 per year, and the Gross Sales Break 
Point shall be increased by 10% over the sums in effect for the prior 5-year period (i.e. during 
Lease Years 26-30 of first option period, Annual Rent shall be $237,500 per year and Gross 
Sales Break Point shall be $16.06 million); 

 
4. Real Estate Taxes: Landlord’s obligation, Tenant does not make contributions; 
 
5. Common Area Maintenance: Landlord’s obligation to maintain and repair existing 850 

car parking lot in northeast portion of Shopping Center, which will be the Tenant’s primary 
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parking area, and other common areas of the Shopping Center; Tenant does not make 
contributions; 

 
6. Landlord’s Pre-term Responsibilities: Landlord will deliver store empty and broom 

clean including the removal of all partitions, and with HVAC system in working order. The 
Landlord will submeter and locate the major electric service to the area of the Store, as Channel 
designates. Landlord will remove the existing escalator and provide escape stairs as per fire code, 
and will insure that the building is free of any asbestos hazard. The service elevator and two 
receiving bays on the lower level, will be boxed-out from the Tenant’s Store, to serve the upper 
levels of the Shopping Center. 

 
7. Maintenance & Repairs: Landlord will maintain repair and replace if necessary the 

HVAC system, roof and structural and exterior portions of the building. Tenant responsible for 
building interior and store front and will pay its prorate share of HVAC usage. 
Execution of the Agreement of Lease by Landlord and Tenant is specifically subject to each of 
the following: 
 

a. Tenant’s authority: Approval by Tenant’s parent corporation, W.R. Grace & Co., and 
its Retail Group, of the essential business terms of the Agreement of Lease;  

 
b. Legal Title: Approval by the Tenant of the status of title for the site, including any 

access easements. 
 
c. Sign Contingency: The Tenants obtaining all necessary permits with the [Landlord’s] 

cooperation (including obtaining any sign variances) for the erection of Tenant’s identification 
signs, on two (2) pylons located on Cheltenham Ave. and Easton Ave., respectively, and two 
building signs on the front of the mall and the front of the Store. 

 
The Tenant has and will not incur any brokerage fees in connection with this proposed 

lease. Any expenditure by the Landlord or Tenant prior to execution of the Agreement of Lease 
shall be at the party’s own risk. 

 
A store opening date during the first half of 2013 is planned. Lease preparation, obtaining 

the sign permits and approvals described above and delivery of possession of the Store to Tenant 
would commence immediately and proceed to achieve that estimated opening date. To induce the 
Tenant to proceed with the leasing of this Store, you will withdraw the Store from the rental 
market, and only negotiate the above described leasing transaction to completion. 

 
Please acknowledge your intent to proceed with the leasing of the captioned store under 

the above terms, conditions and understanding by signing the enclosed copy of this letter and 
returning it to the undersigned within ten (10) days from the date hereof. 
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Very truly yours,  
s/s/ 
S.C. Tabak 
Senior Vice President 
Channel Home Center Division 
 
 
Frank Grossman promptly signed the letter of intent and returned it to Channel.  
Grossman contends that Perkowski and Tabak also agreed orally that a draft lease be 
submitted within thirty (30) days.  Perkowski and Tabak denied telling Grossman that a 
lease would be forthcoming within 30 days or any finite period of time. 
 
Thereafter, both parties initiated procedures directed toward satisfaction of lease 
contingencies.  The letter of intent specified that execution of the lease was expressly 
subject to each of the following:  (1) approval by Channel’s parent corporation W.R. 
Grace & Company (“Grace”), of the essential business terms of the lease; (2) approval by 
Channel of the status of title for the site; and (3) Channel’s obtaining ,with Frank 
Grossman’s cooperation, all necessary permits and zoning variances for the erection of 
Channel’s identification signs. 
 
On December 14, 2012, Channel directed the Grace legal department to prepare a lease 
for the premises.  Channel’s real estate committee approved the lease site on December 
20, 2012.  Channel’s planning representatives visited the premises on December 21, 
2012, to obtain measurements for architectural alterations, renovations and related 
construction.  Detailed marketing plans were developed, building plans drafted, delivery 
schedules were prepared and materials and equipment deemed necessary for the store 
were purchased.  The Grossmans applied to Chelsea’s building and zoning committee for 
permission to erect commercial signs for Channel and other tenants of the Mall. 
 
On January 11, 2013, Bill Shea, of the Grace legal department sent to Frank Grossman 
two of a forty-one (41) page draft lease and, in  a cover letter, requested copies of several 
documents to be used as exhibits to the lease.  On January 16, 2013, Bill Shea received 
the following letter from Frank Grossman: 
 
 Dear Mr. Shea: 
 
 As you requested, enclosed please find the following documents: 
 

1) A copy of a recent title report for the Cedarbrook Mall (the “Mall”), 
 
2) A legal description of the Mall, 

 
3) A site plan of the Mall, and  
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4) A description of the Landlord’s construction. 
 

As we discussed, we have commenced work on the Channel location at the Mall 
and would, therefore, appreciate your assistance in expediting the execution of the 
Channel lease. 
 
 I look forward to hearing from you soon. 
      

Very Truly Yours, 
      BAKER INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
      /S/ 
      FRANK S. GROSSMAN, 
      EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT 
 
On January 21, 2013, Bill Shea received a copy of a letter from Frank Grossman to 
Richard Perkowski dated January 17, 2013.  It provided: 
 

At Bill Shea’s request, enclosed is a site plan for the Cedarbrook  
Mall and also a copy of the proposed pylon sign design. 

 
We look forward to executing the lease agreement in the very near future.   
If you have any questions, please feel free to call me. 

 
Frank Grossman called Shea on January 23, 2013 to discuss the lease.  The only item 
Grossman could recall discussing pertained to the “use” clause in the lease, specifically 
whether Channel could use the site for warehouse facilities at some future point.  
Apparently, Grossman then related other areas of concern and Shea suggested that a 
telephone conference be arranged with all parties the following week.  Grossman agreed.  
According to Grossman, Shea was supposed to initiate the conference call; however, 
when the call was not forthcoming, Grossman did not attempt to reach Shea or anyone 
else at Channel.  Shea understood that the Grossmans were going to discuss the lease 
among themselves and get back to him. 
 
On or about January 22, 2013, Stephen Erlbaum, Chairman of the Board of Mr. Good 
Buys of Boston, Inc. (“Mr. Good Buys”), contacted Frank Grossman.  Like Channel, Mr. 
Good Buys is a corporation engaged in the business of operating retail home 
improvement centers; it is a major competitor of Channel in the Boston area.  Erlbaum 
advised Grossman that Mr. Good Buys would be interested in leasing space at 
Cedarbrook Mall, and sent Grossman printed information about Mr. Good Buys.  
 
On January 24, 2013, construction representatives from Channel met at the mall site to go 
over building alterations and designs.  The next day, January 25, 2013, Erlbaum and other 
representatives from Mr. Good Buys met with the Grossmans and toured Channel’s 
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proposed lease location.  When Erlbaum expressed an interest in leasing this site, lease 
terms were discussed. 
 
On February 6, 2013, Frank Grossman notified Channel that “negotiations terminated as 
of this date” due to Channel’s failure to submit a signed and mutually acceptable lease for 
the mall site within thirty days of the December 11, 2013 letter of intent.  (This was the 
first and only written evidence of the purported thirty-day time limit.  The letter of intent 
contained no such term . . .) On February 7, 2013, Mr. Good Buys and Frank Grossman 
executed a lease for the Cedarbrook Mall.  Mr. Good Buys agreed to make base-level 
annual rental payments which were substantially greater than those agreed to by Channel 
in the December 11, 2013 letter of intent.  Channel’s corporate parent, Grace, approved 
the terms of Channel’s proposed lease on February 13, 2013. 
 
Channel commenced suit in the district court.  Count I of Channel’s complaint alleged 
that Grossman’s conduct violated the December 11, 2013 letter of intent and constituted a 
breach of contract . . . In a supporting affidavit, S. Charles Tabak averred that Channel 
had substantially completed all tasks necessary to meet the opening contemplated in the 
letter of intent and that it had made out-of-pocket expenditures to this end in the sum of 
$25,000.  The United States District Court found against Channel.   
 
What result in the United States Court of Appeals?  Fully support your answer with 
analysis. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Plaintiff has been a lessee of a suite in a shopping mall in Princeton, Massachusetts where 
he conducted a store, selling a number of items including candy, ice cream, soda pop, and 
cigarettes.  Defendant acquired the mall in which the store was located, and its agent 
negotiated with plaintiff for a further leasing of the store space.  A lease for three years 
was signed.  It contained a provision that the lessee should, “use the premises only for the 
sale of candy, ice cream, soda pop, etc.,”  with the further stipulation that “it is expressly 
understood that the tenant is not allowed to sell tobacco in any form under penalty of 
instant forfeiture of the lease.” The document was prepared following a discussion about 
leasing the premises between the parties and, after an agreement to lease had been 
reached,  it was signed after it had been left in plaintiff’s hands and admittedly had been 
read over by him, by two persons, one of whom was his daughter. 
 
Plaintiff alleges that in the course of his dealings with defendant’s agent, it was agreed 
that in consideration of his promise not to sell cigarettes, and to pay an increased rent, 
and for entering into the agreement as a whole, he should have the exclusive right to sell 
soft drinks in the mall. 
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Shortly after signing the lease, the defendant demised the adjoining suite to Smith 
without restricting the latter’s right to sell soft drinks or soda pop.  Alleging that this was 
in violation of the contract which defendant had made with him, and that the sale of these 
beverages by Smith had greatly reduced his receipts and profits, plaintiff brought an 
action for damages for breach of contract. 
 
What result?  Fully analyze your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 15 points) 
 
Morris owns a ranch near Holden, Massachusetts.  Scott is a cowboy, and is experienced 
in training horses.  Morris and Scott made an agreement that Scott would stay at the 
ranch and perform some necessary work.  The parties are in accord that Scott was to 
work 16 weeks for a money consideration of $8,000.  But, Scott says, that as an 
additional consideration he was to receive a brown horse called Keno, owned by Morris.  
Morris stated that Scott was to get the horse only on condition that his work at the ranch 
was satisfactory, and that Scott failed to do a good job.  Morris paid Scott the amount of 
money they agreed was due, but did not deliver the horse. 
 
Scott contends that there was an accord and satisfaction between the parties which 
precludes Scott from recovering the horse.  After the 16 week period expired, Morris 
owed Scott a balance in May of $1,800.  The parties met at a bank in Holden where 
Morris gave Scott a check for that amount and made a notation on the check, “Labor paid 
in full.” 
 
Scott cashed the check: 
 

A) What are Morris’s arguments? 
 

B) How should the Court rule?  Fully support your answer. 
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